2002

HELEN LABELLE, SHEILA CARLSON, LINDA
BUCKLEY and MARILYN PHILLIPS, individuals
and as heirs of Norma Mary Harriman, Plaintiffs
and Appellants, v. MCKAY DEE HOSPITAL
CENTER, INTERMOUNTAIN HEALTH
CARE, INC., Utah corporations, DR. IVAN D.
WRIGHT, DR. HAROLD VONK and DR.
RONALD S. RANKIN, individuals, and JOHN
DOES 1-50 : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended). The case has been assigned to the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether or not the trial court erred in holding that it had no jurisdiction over the action, solely on the basis that the applicable Request for Prelitigation Panel Review was not mailed to the named defendants on the date that it was filed with the Division. Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12; Avila v. Winn, 794 P.2d 20 (Utah 1990); Carter v. Milford Valley Memorial Hosp., 996 P.2d 1076 (Utah App. 2000). [R. 157-63, 203-06, 245-48.] With respect to an appeal which presents only questions of law, the trial court's rulings are accorded no deference and are reviewed for correctness. Mountain Fuel Supply v. Salt Lake City, 752 P.2d 884, 887 (Utah 1988).

II. Whether or not Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12 and Rule R156-78A of the Utah Administrative Rules, as

applied by the trial court, are unconstitutionally overbroad to the extent that the procedural provisions of the Act serve to limit claims against a special classification, as opposed the achievement of the stated legislative intent to "provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims." State v. Frampton, 737 P.2d 183 (Utah 1987); Berry by and through Berry v. Beech Aircraft, 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985). [R. 157-161, 163, 204-205, 257, pp. 19-20, 23, 27-31.] A challenge to the constitutionality of a statute presents only questions of law, and the trial court's rulings are accorded no particular deference. Ryan v. Gold Cross Servs., Inc., 903 P.2d 423 (Utah 1995); Mountain Fuel Supply v. Salt Lake City, 752 P.2d 884, 887 (Utah 1988).

III. Whether or not the plaintiffs' constitutional rights under Article I, sections 2, 7, 11 and 24 and Article XVI, section 5 of the Utah Constitution and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution were violated by (1) Utah Administrative Rules, Rule R156, (2) the Division's action in deciding not to open

and process a file with regard to the Notice of Intent and Petition, (3) the Division's failure to provide notice to parties of its decision and actions, and (4) such other action of the Division as should be required by Utah Code Ann., Sections 78-14-2 and 78-14-12 so as to not make Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12 unconstitutionally overbroad and to otherwise avoid arbitrarily depriving the plaintiff's of their rights of due process and access to the courts. State v. Frampton, 737 P.2d 183 (Utah 1987); Berry by and through Berry v. Beech Aircraft, 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985); Spackman Ex Rel Spackman v. Bd. Of Educ., 16 P.3d 533 (Utah 2000); Morris v. Public Service Commission, 321 P.2d 644 (Utah). [R. 157-161, 163, 204-205, 257, pp. 19-20, 23, 27-31.] With respect to an appeal which presents only questions of law, the trial court's rulings are accorded no deference and are reviewed for correctness. Mountain Fuel Supply v. Salt Lake City, 752 P.2d 884, 887 (Utah 1988).

STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12.

Utah Administrative Code, Rules R156-78A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The above-captioned action involves claims of negligence and wrongful death against medical care providers of Norma Mary Harriman.

Following filing of the action in Third District Court, the case was dismissed. Based on matters considered outside the pleadings, the trial court addressed the matter under Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56 as a motion for summary judgment. The trial court found that it did not have jurisdiction over the case as a consequence of the provisions of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act (the "Act").

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Norma Mary Harriman died on or about March 3, 1999. On or about February 14, 2001, her heirs filed a Notice of Intent to Commence Legal Action (the "Notice of Intent") and a Petition for Prelitigation Review (the "Petition") with the Utah Division of Occupational Licensing (the "Division") pursuant to the Act. The Notice of Intent was sent by certified mail to all of the

applicable medical care providers. The Petition was not sent to the named parties, as none of them had yet been served in the action with the Division. [R. 26-35.]

No action was taken by the Division. [R. 73-75.] The Division made a conscious decision (1) not to notify the parties of the opening of a file relative to the Notice of Intent, (2) not to notify the parties that it had not received a copy of the Petition (or that it was lost), (3) not to notify the parties of any requirements of maintaining the action commenced by the filing of the Notice of Intent, (4) not to notify the parties of its decision to close the action commenced by the filing of the Notice of Intent, and (5) and not to provide for any remedy or procedure associated with the foregoing, whether by including the same in Rule R156-78A of the Utah Administrative Rules or informally, so as not to arbitrarily fail to accomplish the intent of Utah Code Ann., section 78-14-2 or Rule R156-78A to provide a process to "expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims," which is the only role of the Division and the

only purpose of filing a Notice of Intent or Petition.
[R. 73-75,]

The plaintiffs filed an action in Third District Court on June 13, 2001, alleging negligence and wrongful death against the medical care providers.

At the hearing held December 19, 2001, the Trial Court held that the failure to mail a copy of the Petition to the named defendants deprived the Trial Court of Jurisdiction. [R. 257.] Pursuant to said decision, on February 4, 2002, the Trial Court executed an Order of Dismissal. [R. 245-48.] Notice of Appeal was filed March 4, 2002. [R. 249-50.]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When a case falls under the Act, the courts in the state of Utah are not thereby deprived of jurisdiction. Jurisdiction with the Division is concurrent, until the jurisdiction of the Division is expires pursuant to Act.

As a condition precedent to commencement of litigation, a plaintiff must file a notice on intent to commence legal action and request a prelitigation panel review with the Division. Minor defects in the form of

the request for prelitigation panel review do not deprive the trial court of jurisdiction, and the Act actually provides that upon the expiration of the jurisdiction of the Division under the conditions of the present case that all prelitigation requirement shall be deemed satisfied.

The stated purpose of the prelitigation panel review, as stated by the Act, is "to provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims." Utah Code Ann., section 78-14-2. To the extent that the Act has been interpreted by the trial court as a mechanism to limit the filing of lawsuits against health care providers, the Act is unconstitutional because its effect is to deprive a classification of equal access to the courts and because it deprives claimants of due process in certain circumstances.

Plaintiffs are entitled to constitutional protections in the administration of their claims by the Division. The Division deprived the plaintiffs in this case of their rights to due process and equal access to the courts.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION.

The district courts have jurisdiction over claims of negligence and wrongful death pursuant to Utah Code Ann., Section 78-3-4. Nothing in the Act states any limitation on the jurisdiction of the district courts. The Utah Supreme Court has held that the district court may exercise that jurisdiction, even when certain procedural technicalities in the Act are not followed in the anticipated fashion. See Avila v. Winn, 794 P.2d 20 (Utah 1990) (District court had jurisdiction in action filed prior to completion of prelitigation panel review).

With respect to the prerequisites for filing a medical malpractice lawsuit, the appellate courts have identified (at least in dicta) three requirements provided by the Act with which the plaintiff must comply or face dismissal of the action. Carter v. Milford Valley Memorial Hosp., 996 P.2d 1076, 1079 (Utah App. 2000); Avila, supra; Allen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 635 P.2d 30 (Utah 1981).

First, the plaintiff must file a notice of intent to commence legal action (the "Notice") and serve a copy on the applicable health care providers. See Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-8. It is undisputed that each of the defendants was served with the notice of intent to commence an action and that the notice was filed with the Division of February 14, 2001. [R. 29-32.]

Second, the plaintiff must file a request for prelitigation panel review (the "Request"). See Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(2). The trial court found a question of fact as to whether or not the Request had been filed by the plaintiff. [R. 245.] As a result of consideration of evidence outside the pleadings, the trial court addressed the matter pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56, or in other words construing the matter as though the Request had been filed. Under circumstances where the Division convenes a prelitigation panel, the plaintiff must submit to the review by the panel. See Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(1); but see Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(3)(b)(ii) (if prelitigation panel procedures not completed within 180

days of Request, then "the claimant is considered to have complied with all conditions precedent required under this section prior to the commencement of litigation"). The Division did not convene a prelitigation panel, and the plaintiff was thereby released from such requirement pursuant to Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(3)(b)(ii). Moreover, as a result of the failure of the Division to timely complete the prelitigation panel review process, plaintiffs are "considered to have complied with all conditions precedent required under this section prior to the commencement of litigation." Id.

Third, the plaintiff must file the complaint with the district court within the abbreviated two-year statute of limitations period. Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-4. The complaint must be filed at least 90 days after service of the Notice. Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-8. Again, it is undisputed that the complaint was timely filed. The only dispute among the parties related to the Request.

Based on the foregoing, it can only be concluded that the trial court had jurisdiction in the action. The trial court had the discretion to either proceed with

litigation or to provide the parties with an opportunity for a prelitigation panel review before proceeding, or otherwise address the circumstances of the parties.

The trial court's finding that it had no jurisdiction because the Request was not mailed to the defendants at the time of filing was reversible error. The trial court took its decision from the language of the Act provided by Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(2)(b), which states in part, "The request shall be mailed to all health care providers named in the notice and request." There is no basis to conclude that such provision is by itself jurisdictional. As stated above, Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(3)(b)(ii) renders the question moot. The only relevant question is whether the Request was filed with the Division.

The parties refer to Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(1)(c) for the proposition that "The proceedings are informal, nonbinding, ... but are compulsory as a condition precedent to commencing litigation." Yet, this provision refers to the conduct of proceedings arranged by the Division in response to a Request and not to the

technical accuracy of issues such as mailing the Request. Section 78-14-12(3)(b)(ii) clearly implies that such technicalities are not jurisdictional. Moreover, the legislative intent of the proceedings is stated in Section 78-14-2 as "to provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims." The implementing rules similarly provide in R156-78A-4(1), "Liberal Construction. These rules shall be liberally construed to secure the just, speedy and economical determination of all issues presented to the division." The purpose of the statute and rules is not to limit medical malpractice claims through a mechanism that allows the Division to deprive claimants of their due process rights. Utah Code Ann., Section 78-14-12(1) makes it the responsibility of the Division to promulgate rules to achieve the purposes stated. This Court has jurisdiction to find that either the appropriate rules or procedures are not in place or that the Division did not otherwise act as they should. As discussed below, the trial court's interpretation of the purpose of the

statute as a mechanism for limiting claims is an unconstitutional interpretation.

Because the trial court has jurisdiction, appellants respectfully request that the order dismissing their claims be reversed and that the matter be remanded to the trial court to determine how to proceed with reference to litigation and/or convening of a prelitigation panel.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S APPLICATION OF THE ACT VIOLATED CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITIONS.

The Utah Constitution provides guarantees in wrongful death cases, open access to the court for all citizens, equal protection and due process. Utah Constitution, and Article I, sections 2, 7, 11 and 24 and Article XVI, section 5. Similar due process rights are guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.

Article I, Section 11, of the Utah Constitution is generally referred to as the "open courts" provision. Berry by and through Berry v. Beech Aircraft, 717 P.2d 670, 674 (Utah 1985). Among the purposes of Section 11 is the guaranty of "access to the courts and a judicial

procedure based on fairness and equality." Id. at 675. To satisfy the open courts provision of the Utah Constitution, legislation must be substantially equal in value or benefit to any remedy abrogated. Id. at 680. If no substitute remedy is provided, abrogation of the remedy can only be justified if there is a clear social evil to be eliminated and elimination of an existing legal remedy is not an arbitrary or unreasonable means of achieving the objective. Id. at 680. Defining the scope of Section 11 requires careful consideration of related constitutional issues, such as those of due process provided by Article 1, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution. Id. at 680. These protections impose a limitation on powerful groups, such as medical care providers and insurance companies, from using the political process to limit the rights of other groups. See Id. at 676.

Article XVI, section 5, of the Utah Constitution is intended to prevent abolition of the right of action for wrongful death, either in a wholesale or piecemeal fashion. Id. at 684. Application of Section 5 is

considerably more strict than the application of Section 11. Id. at 683.¹ Restrictions which limit the ability of a party to effectively pursue a remedy for wrongful death is "beyond legislative authority." Id. at 684. If such action is beyond legislative authority, then it is certainly beyond the authority of the Division, under the guise of legislative authority, to produce the same effect.

Another related constitutional issue involves substantive due process, guaranteed by the Utah Constitution, and Article I, section 7 and by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution. A statute may be overbroad in its application, and violate the interests of substantive due process, if its effect is to limit rights beyond an intended legitimate purpose. See e.g. State v. Frampton, 737 P.2d 183, 191-192 (Utah 1987).

¹ See Berry by and through Berry v. Beech Aircraft, 717 P.2d 670, 683-85 for a discussion of statutes declared unconstitutional or constitutional with reference to Article XVI, section 5.

All of the foregoing rights do not depend upon or defer to the legislature, but must be upheld as resting upon constitutional authority that is supreme to the legislature. See Spackman Ex Rel Spackman v. Bd. Of Educ., 16 P.3d 533, 535-36 (Utah 2000) (Article I, Section 7 is self executing clause).

At the hearing in question, the trial court specifically stated, "Well, but see, the rules of procedure really don't apply, do they? There are some standards that the legislature, right or wrong, has decided to give special treatment to health care providers. Whether you disagree with that or whether you don't, it's the law, and the Supreme Court says its constitutional, so you have got to jump through all of these hoops. It is like the notice on the governmental immunity act. There are certain things that you have got to do."

The governmental immunity act, referred to by the trial court, is a statute which provides parties with a right to sue certain government institutions in certain cases. Rather than limiting the rights of individuals to

commence litigation, it creates a right of action when certain requirements are met. The Act, on the other hand, serves as a limitation on actions. It must have a purpose other than the arbitrary limitation of access to the courts of a certain classification of plaintiffs. The legislature certainly understood this when they stated that the purpose of the prelitigation panel review, as discussed above, was "to provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims" and not to limit actions against health care providers except by the statute of limitations imposed. The only limitation against filing actions which is provided by the Act that the Courts have confirmed is constitutional is the two-year statute of limitations. See Allen, supra.

The trial court further demonstrated its erroneous construction of the Act when it stated, "That doesn't make sense. If the purpose of it is to avoid filing lawsuits then why are we allowing-then why does the statute allow filing lawsuits in the middle of the prelitigation panel process." Again, the stated purpose

of the procedures involved in the prelitigation panel review process is to expedite the discussion of issues, not prevent Plaintiffs from going forward.

The Act provides no remedy to a plaintiff, only a non-binding forum for discussion of claims. If a purpose of the Act is to eliminate lawsuits against providers of medical care, then the Act cannot stand. Lawsuits against negligent parties is not an evil to be eliminated in society, but is instead an important remedy for injuries, particularly in wrongful death cases. On the other hand, if the purpose of the Act is "to provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims," then the purpose is appropriate as long as the process does not have the unconstitutional effect of depriving parties of the right to bring an action in court, and as long as the Division and the courts adopt rules and administer the process with the purpose of early evaluation and settlement of claims in mind. If rules are adopted or administered, or if the Act is interpreted, in a fashion that eliminates claims without appropriate remedies for circumstances-- even

oversights--that may arise, then the effect of the Act becomes unconstitutional.

In other words, any provision of the Act that were to make strict compliance with filing and mailing the Request jurisdictional, would constitute an unconstitutional limitation on due process and access to the courts for the applicable classification of plaintiffs. Unless the Act is interpreted in the manner suggested by the Appellants in this action, as requiring the Division and permitting the court to convene a prelitigation panel when a filing is lost or in the event of some other irregularity, then the Act is unconstitutional.

In the present case, the circumstances involve the timely filing of the Notice with the Division, a Request which was filed with the Division and lost by the Division, and a Complaint that was timely filed in the District Court. The constitutional issues raised by the Appellants must be resolved in favor of permitting the Appellants to go forward as plaintiffs in this action.

The constitutionality of the Act as a limitation on the right of access to the courts, as well as the due process arguments concerning the Division addressed both above and below, are matters of first impression before this Court.²

III. THE DIVISION VIOLATED PLAINTIFFS' RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND ACCESS TO THE COURTS.

An act by a administrative body which is taken without notice to affected parties violates due process. Morris v. Public Service Commission, 321 P.2d 644 (Utah).

The Division has a responsibility to parties that file a Notice and/or Request. First, the Division has

² Carter, supra, considered the interpretation of the term "health care provider" in the Act. Avila, supra, considered whether the district court had jurisdiction with regard to a prematurely filed complaint where irregularities existed with respect to the request for prelitigation panel review and the completion of such proceedings. The principles of estoppel in Avila, however, do have some application in the present case to the plaintiffs' reliance on the Division's silence. In Malone v. Parker, 826 P.2d 132, 136 (Utah 1992) the Court addressed the necessity of filing an action within 60 days following the service of the Notice. The Court did not consider the necessity of a prelitigation panel review, under a prior version of the statute, because it held that the issue was precluded by collateral estoppel. In Allen, supra, the Court only addressed the constitutionality of a two year statute of limitations.

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