2002

HELEN LABELLE, SHEILA CARLSON, LINDA BUCKLEY and MARILYN PHILLIPS, individuals and as heirs of Norma Mary Harriman, Plaintiffs and Appellants, v. MCKAY DEE HOSPITAL CENTER, INTERMOUNTAIN HEALTH CARE, INC., Utah corporations, DR. IVAN D. WRIGHT, DR. HAROLD VONK and DR. RONALD S. RANKIN, individuals, and JOHN DOES 1-50, Brief of Appellee

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

Division's jurisdiction is terminated upon failing to complete a prelitigation review panel hearing within 180 days after the Request for Prelitigation Panel Review is filed. See id. § 78-14-12(3)(a) & (b). The plain language of these subdivisions is jurisdictional and bars a trial court from hearing the merits of the matter until the Division has issued its opinion or conceded its own jurisdiction.

Other courts have reached the same conclusion under similar statutes. See Johnson v. Methodist Hosp. of Gary, Ind., 547 F. Supp. 780, 781 (N.D. Ind. 1982) (affirming trial court's decision to dismiss medical malpractice complaint which was filed before claimant submitted claims to Commissioner of Insurance as required prerequisite to suit under Indiana statute); Schwartz v. Lilly, 452 A.2d 1302, 1304-05 (Md. Ct. App. 1982) (trial court was in error to deny defendant's motion raising preliminary objection on ground of jurisdiction where plaintiffs had not first filed claims with Health Claims Arbitration Office under statute requiring all malpractice claims to be submitted first to nonbinding arbitration); Perez v. Brubaker, 660 P.2d 619, 621 (N.M. Ct. App. 1983) (holding district court had no jurisdiction to hear claims where claimant did not first submit claims to state Medical Review Commission and obtain a decision from that commission). ²

² Other state and federal courts considering delegation of judicial powers and separation of powers attacks against their own medical review panel statutes have concluded that the proceedings are jurisdictional and are not an improper delegation of judicial power. See, e.g., Keyes v. Humana Hosp. Alaska, Inc., 750 P.2d 343, 356 (Alaska 1988). "Most have relied on the maxim that 'the essence of judicial power is the final

Indeed, the above statutory scheme recognizes the exclusive nature of the prelitigation proceedings, allowing a suspension of the statute of limitations so that the Division may conduct a review of the matter before the litigant heads to court. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-12(3)(a). Once the Division has either completed its review or fails to complete its review upon proper request, the statute of limitations resumes and the litigant may commence litigation. See id. A petitioner who complies with the Act and who timely files and serves the Request for Prelitigation Panel Review will thus not be precluded from filing a complaint in district court once the panel issues its opinion and a Certificate of Compliance. See id.; Utah Admin. Code R156-78A-14.

In this case, however, Appellants did not file and serve upon all parties a Request for Prelitigation Panel Review within 60 days after filing their Notice of Intent. The two-year statute of limitations—extended by 120 days—was therefore not tolled and

authority to render and enforce a judgment,’ and thus found no separation of powers problems because the actions of the panel are at most advisory and its decision has no more weight than an expert opinion.” Id. (citing DiAntonio v. Northampton-Accomack Mem’l Hosp., 628 F.2d 287, 292 (4th Cir. (Va.), 1980); Eastin v. Broomfield, 570 P.2d 744, 750 (Ariz. 1977); Lacy v. Green, 428 A.2d 1171, 1178 (Del. Super. 1981); Prendergast v. Nelson, 256 N.W.2d 657, 666-67 (Neb. 1977)). This reasoning applies with equal force to Utah’s statute because the prelitigation panel review is “informal and nonbinding.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-12(1)(c). In fact, Utah’s statute is arguably less invasive into the role of the judiciary than those of other states. For example, the statute upheld in Keyes went so far as to uphold as constitutional the statute’s provision allowing the panel’s published opinion to be introduced as “expert” evidence at trial. See Keyes, 750 P.2d at 346-47. The Utah Health Care Malpractice Act, however, forbids the disclosure of the review panel’s decision and protects the confidentiality of the proceedings. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-12(1)(d) (“Proceedings conduct under authority of this section are confidential, privileged, and immune from civil process.”).

expired on June 14, 2001. Although Appellants filed their Complaint within the 120-day extension on June 12, 2001, the filing was defective because the Complaint contained no certification that Appellants had fully complied with the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act, that a prelitigation panel review hearing had been held, or that the Division's jurisdiction had expired. The trial court therefore had no jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-12.

Appellants' reliance on the this Court's decision in Avila v. Winn, 794 P.2d 20 (Utah 1990), to justify their premature filing in the Third District court is simply misplaced. Although the Avila Court determined that the complaint which was filed before a prelitigation panel review was held should not be dismissed in that instance, the facts and holding in that case are inapposite. In Avila, the plaintiff filed a Notice of Intent within 90 days of the expiration of the two-year statute of limitations. See id. at 20-21. The statute of limitations was therefore extended by 120 days pursuant to U.C.A. § 78-14-8. See id. at 21. The plaintiff then filed a request for prelitigation panel review within the 60-day time period required by statute. See id. The Division also held a prelitigation panel hearing, but the plaintiff's attorney did not present evidence or argument on his client's behalf. See id. at 22. The Division thereafter did not issue an opinion. See id.

Eleven months later, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that the plaintiff had failed to comply with the two-year statute of limitation. The trial court recognized that, despite the compulsory conditions precedent of the Act, the

plaintiff had filed the complaint before the prelitigation panel review hearing was held. See id. at 21. The trial court also noted that the prelitigation panel review was incomplete and, on that basis, refused to dismiss the complaint and tolled the proceedings until after a complete panel review could be accomplished. See id.

After a second prelitigation panel hearing, the review panel issued an opinion, but the plaintiff did not re-file his complaint in district court. The defendants again filed a motion to dismiss, arguing that the plaintiff had failed to file a complaint within 60 days after the prelitigation panel issued its opinion. See id. (citing U.C.A. § 78-14-12(3)). The trial court thereafter dismissed the plaintiff's action.

In reversing the trial court's dismissal, this Court found that the defendants had not sought and obtained a final ruling on their initial motion to dismiss and thus the defendants were estopped from arguing that the plaintiff's complaint was filed untimely. Based upon the defendants' failure to act and the plaintiff's reasonable reliance on the fact that he had already filed a complaint, the Supreme Court concluded that, in equity, the plaintiff's complaint should not have been dismissed. See id. at 23. More important, this Court added that, "[i]n so holding, we do not condone the act of filing a complaint before the time specified in the Malpractice Act. The instant case is an exception necessitated by procedural errors and omissions." Id. (emphasis added).

Thus, Avila does not stand for the proposition Appellants advance, and this Court should not rely on Avila to condone the filing of a complaint in these

circumstances. As this Court made clear, Avila was an equitable exception necessitated by unique facts—facts that are not present in this case. Unlike the petitioner in Avila, Appellants in this case did not file and serve a Request for Prelitigation Panel Review within the 60 days provided by the Act, and no prelitigation panel review hearing was ever held. Because Plaintiffs did not comply with the conditions precedent mandated by the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act prior to commencing litigation, the trial court was without jurisdiction to hear the matter. This Court should therefore affirm the trial court’s decision to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

POINT II

APPELLANTS MAY NOT RAISE CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

Appellants launch a volley of constitutional challenges to the trial court’s ruling and the Division’s conduct, contending that the trial court and the Division violated their rights under the open courts clause, the equal protection clause, and the due process clause of the Utah Constitution. Appellants also argue that the trial court and the Division violated Article XVI, section 5, of the Utah Constitution, which provides certain guarantees for wrongful death actions. Violations of federal rights are also referenced.

“It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that matters not raised at the trial level cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” State ex rel. M.S., 781 P.2d 1289, 1291 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (citing State v. John, 770 P.2d 994, 995 (Utah 1989)). This general rule “applies equally to constitutional challenges not presented below, but

raised subsequently on appeal.” Id. (citations omitted); cf. Rudolph v. Galetka, 2002 UT 7, ¶5, 43 P.2d 467 (“Any issues that were not addressed on direct appeal but could have been raised may not be raised for the first time in a post-conviction relief proceeding absent unusual circumstances. This rule applies to all claims, including constitutional questions.”) (citing Julian v. State, 966 P.2d 249, 258 (Utah 1998)).

In this case, Appellants purport to challenge the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act on several constitutional grounds. Many of those grounds, however, are raised for the first time on appeal. In fact, Appellants utterly fail to identify in their opening brief where in the record they specifically preserved their constitutional arguments before the trial court. This omission directly contravenes Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, which requires an appellant to include in the brief “[a] statement of the issues presented for review, including for each issue: the standard of appellate review with supporting authority; and . . . citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court; or . . . a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court.” Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5) (emphasis added).

Should the Court choose to forgive Appellants’ failure to comply with Rule 24, it should still not consider the merits of Appellants’ constitutional arguments other than those regarding due process or right of access to the courts because they are raised in this Court for the first time. Appellees acknowledge that Appellants did address some constitutional challenges in their opposition to the motions before the trial court. Other

constitutional challenges made below, however, are not those raised in this appeal. For example, Appellants did not raise the issue of whether the Act violated equal protection in any of their opposition memoranda to Appellees' motions to dismiss. See R.22-25; 78-86; 154-166; 196-199; 200-207; 208-210. They should not be heard now on that issue when the trial court was never given any meaningful opportunity to consider the issue and rule upon it.

Appellants' counsel briefly addressed other constitutional arguments based upon due process and access to the courts during the hearing on Appellees' motions for summary judgment. Those arguments, however, were cursory at best, and the trial court was not provided with any meaningful analysis or case law supporting Appellants' position on those issues, either in Appellants' memoranda or at oral argument. See Motion Hearing, December 19, 2001 (R.258, at 27, 29). Appellants also have not shown that the trial court committed plain error or that any exceptional circumstances warrant consideration of their arguments. See State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah Ct. App. 1996), cert. denied, 931 P.2d 146 (Utah 1997). Simply put, Appellants failed to adequately preserve their constitutional arguments which they now raise on appeal, and the Court should refuse to consider them.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-12(2)(b) WAS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNITED STATES AND UTAH CONSTITUTIONS.

Even if this Court concludes that Appellants adequately preserved their constitutional challenges to the trial court's interpretation of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act, no grounds support those arguments. The trial court correctly concluded that, based on undisputed facts, Appellants failed to comply with the compulsory conditions precedent to commencing litigation when they did not serve a copy of the Request for Prelitigation Panel Review upon all named health-care providers in the action. This violated the plain mandate of Section 78-14-12(2), as explained above. See Point I, infra.

Insofar as Appellants' constitutional challenges address this particular ruling,³ and assuming that Appellants adequately preserved those challenges, this Court may easily conclude that the Act's requirement to serve all named health-care providers with the Request for Prelitigation Panel Review does not violate Appellants' procedural

³ In support of their argument that the trial court erroneously interpreted the Act, Appellants cite several of the trial court's statements made during oral argument. These statements, however, were not part of the trial court's ruling from the bench, see R.258, at 38-44, and even if they were, this Court has held that oral statements made from the bench are not the judgment of the case and therefore are not appealable. See State v. Gerrard, 584 P.2d 885 (Utah 1978). This Court should therefore reject any implication that those statements comprise a part of the trial court's judgment in this case.

or substantive due process rights, deny them access to the courts, or deny them equal protection under the law.⁴

1. The Act does not violate Appellants' due process rights.

Appellants do not explain how the prelitigation review proceedings violate “due process,” either under the Utah Constitution or the United States Constitution. If Appellants’ argument is that the proceedings violate their substantive due process rights, “it is well-established that legislative acts adjusting economic burdens and benefits carry a presumption of constitutionality and that the person challenging the enactment must

⁴ Appellants off-handedly contend, without any analysis or citation to case law, that the prelitigation panel review proceedings violate their right to equal protection under the law. Appellants, however, have failed to comply with Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, which, in part, requires Appellants’ brief to include an argument section containing “the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on.” Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9). Appellants offer nothing other than two references to “equal protection” in their brief. No mention is made of what classification or fundamental right is involved, and the brief is also bereft of any analysis regarding the appropriate level of scrutiny to be applied.

Moreover, Appellants’ arguments fail to adequately cite to the “parts of the record relied on.” For example, Point II of Appellants’ argument includes a grand total of two references to the oral argument transcript (without record cites), and Point III is equally devoid of references. This Court has repeatedly declared that it “is not ‘a depository in which the appealing party may dump the burden of argument and research.’” State v. Gamblin, 2000 UT 44, ¶6, 1 P.3d 1108 (citing State v. Jaeger, 1999 UT 1, ¶31, 973 P.2d 404 (citations omitted); Mackay v. Hardy, 973 P.2d 941, 948 n.9 (Utah 1998)). Like the appellant in Gamblin, Appellants’ brief in argument as required by Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.” Gamblin, 2000 UT 44 at ¶6. Indeed, “[b]riefs that do not comply with rule 24 ‘may be disregarded or stricken, on motion or sua sponte by the court.’” Id. (citations omitted). As such, this Court should refuse to consider Appellants’ inadequately briefed arguments.

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